IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01529

ROBERT MICHAEL FULTON

APPELLANT

V.

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

On Appeal From The Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT ROBERT MICHAEL FULTON

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

O. Stephen Montagnet, III (MSF)
W. Thomas McCraney, III (MSF)
McCraney Montagnet & Quin, PLLC
602 Steed Road, Suite 200
Ridgeland, MS 39157
(601) 707-5725

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Judgment and to Award Attorneys Fees and Expenses, Costs and Interest based upon its determination that the motion was pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal in an action for contractual, extra contractual and bad faith punitive damages arising out of the failure of Defendant Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company ("Farm Bureau") to adequately and promptly process and pay an uninsured motorist claim. Plaintiff / Appellant Michael Fulton was injured when he was struck in the back by an uninsured automobile being driven by Gene Pigg, who lost control of his automobile while intoxicated and driving through the spectator section of a drag race. Mr. Pigg admitted to the investigating officer that he had no automobile insurance. Nevertheless, when Mr. Fulton tendered a claim for uninsured motorist benefits, Farm Bureau refused to pay until a lawsuit was filed, and then only paid half of their insured's meager UM limits.

On April 2, 2009, the jury in this case found that Farm Bureau acted negligently in failing to timely and adequately investigate Plaintiff's UM claim and in delaying the payment of his UM claim. Appeal Record ("App. Rec.") at 7. The jury awarded extra contractual damages for emotional distress as well as the remainder of Fulton's UM limits. *Id.* On April 3, 2009, the jury decided against awarding punitive damages, and returned a 9-3 verdict in favor of the Defendant on that issue. An agreed form of the judgment based on the jury verdict was presented to the Court. The Judgment was entered. App. Rec. at 7.

Following entry of Judgment, the Plaintiff timely moved for an award of attorneys fees, costs, and prejudgment interest, as authorized by *Universal Life Ins. Co. v. Veasley*, 610 So. 2d 290 (Miss. 1992). App. Rec. at 11. The motion was fully briefed. In written responses to the motion, and in separate collateral motions to compel evidence, for protective orders, and for continuances, Defendant Farm Bureau raised a multitude of defenses and objections to the merits of Plaintiff's motion. App. Rec. at 36, 99, 140 and 156. In none of those pleadings, however, did Farm Bureau raise the issue that the motion was procedurally defective. Rather, this issue was raised for the first time *at the second hearing on the motion* when Farm Bureau presented to the Court the case of *Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So. 2d 229 (Miss. 2004) and argued that a post judgment motion for attorneys fees required a showing of the requirements of Rule 59(e) motions.

Thereafter, the Circuit Court issued an order denying the motion on the procedural grounds argued by Farm Bureau. App. Rec. at 145. The basis for the Court's ruling was that the Motion had been filed post-judgment, and as such, should be treated under Rule 59(e) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Finding that the Plaintiff had failed to present any of three alternative grounds for a Rule 59(e) motion, the Court refused to consider the request for relief. The Court's decision was simply stated:

This Court, after considering the motion, records and pleadings, finds that Plaintiff filed a timely Rule 59(e) motion to amend judgment but the Plaintiff's motion failed to show one of the three requirements set forth by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So. 2d 229 (Miss. 2004) which states:

[I]n order to succeed on a Rule 59(e) motion, the movant must show: (I) an intervening change in controlling law, (ii) availability of new evidence not previously available, or (iii) need to correct a clear error of law or to prevent manifest injustice." *Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So. 2d 229 (Miss. 2004).

The Court therefore finds that Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Judgment to award attorneys fees and expenses, costs and interest is hereby DENIED.

Plaintiff filed a motion for reconsideration with the trial court, but that motion was also denied. App. Rec. at 147, 167. Plaintiff timely perfected this appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court's ruling is in direct conflict with this Court's holding that "motions for reassessments of costs or for attorneys fees lie outside Rule 59(e), because they are 'collateral' and do not seek a change in the judgment but 'merely what is due *because of* the judgment." *Cruse v. Nunley*, 699 So. 2d 941, 946 (Miss. 1997). For the reasons stated below, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court's August 20, 2009 order, and remand this action for consideration of the merits of the Plaintiff's motion.

ARGUMENT

A. The Lower Court Erred in Requiring the Plaintiff to Satisfy Rule 59(e)
Requirements Before Considering the Merits of Plaintiff's Motion to Award
Fees, Costs and Interest

The Circuit Court correctly identified *Brooks* as setting forth the requirements of a Rule 59(e) motion, but neither *Brooks* nor any of the cases cited therein concerned the direct issue of whether a motion to award attorneys fees *constituted* a "Rule 59(e) Motion to Amend." As to that primary issue, this Court has already ruled that such motions do not touch the merits of the underlying case, are collateral to the judgment, and are therefore "outside" of Rule 59.

In Cruse v. Nunley, 699 So. 2d 941, 946 (Miss. 1997), the Mississippi Supreme Court, following its previous rulings and the decisions of the United States Supreme Court, unequivocally held that motions for attorneys fees are not Rule 59(e) motions. In Cruse, the Plaintiff prevailed on

a claim that permitted the awarding of attorneys fees. *Following judgment*, the Plaintiff moved for such an award. As below, the motion was accompanied by a summary of the work performed, along with affidavits from the attorneys performing the work and from other attorneys attesting to the reasonable and customary rates for such litigation. The Circuit Court of Tishomingo County denied the request, however, "because Cruse failed to request attorney's fees prior to the entry of judgment." On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and remanded for findings as to the reasonableness of the requested award, consistent with the factors established in *McKee v. McKee*, 418 So.2d 764, 767 (Miss. 1982). In support of the decision, the Court stated:

This Court has specifically held that "... motions for reassessments of costs or for attorneys fees lie outside Rule 59(e), because they are 'collateral' and do not seek a change in the judgment but 'merely what is due because of the judgment." Bruce v. Bruce, 587 So. 2d 898 (1981) (quoting Buchanan v. Stanships, Inc., 585 U.S. 265 at 267-28 (1991); White v. New Hampshire Dept of Empl. Sec., 455 U.S. 445, 451 (1982). . . . Regardless of when attorney's fees are requested, the court's decision of entitlement to fees will therefore require an inquiry separate from the decision on the merits — an inquiry that cannot even commence until one party has prevailed. . . . In light of the language in Bruce and White, the fact that the fee request was made after the entry of judgment is not a proper basis for denying the fee award.

Cruse, 699 So. 2d at 946.

Rule 59 is worded *verbatim* as its federal counterpart, and "[w]e have consistently and almost routinely said that, where this is the case, the federal construction of the counterpart rule will be "persuasive of what our construction of our similarly worded rule ought to be." *Bruce v. Bruce*, 587 So. 2d 898, 903 (Miss. 1991) (*citing Smith v. H.C. Bailey Companies*, 477 So.2d 224, 233 (Miss. 1985); *Bourn v. Tomlinson Interest, Inc.*, 456 So.2d 747, 749 (Miss. 1984). "We have specifically followed this policy in the construction of Rule 59." *Bruce*, 587 So. 2d at 903 (*citing Clark v. Vinard*

By and Through Vinard, 548 So.2d 987, 991 (Miss. 1989)).

Rule 59(e) was added to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in 1946. Its draftsmen had a clear and narrow aim. According to the accompanying Advisory Committee Report, the Rule was adopted to "[m]ake clear that the district court possesses the power" to rectify its own mistakes in the period immediately following the entry of judgment. . . .Consistently with this original understanding, "the federal courts generally have invoked Rule 59(e) only to support reconsideration of matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits. By contrast, a request for attorney's fees . . . raises legal issues collateral to the main cause of action -- issues to which Rule 59(e) was never intended to apply."

White v. N.H. Dep't of Employment Sec., 455 U.S. 445, 452 (U.S. 1982). "[A] motion for attorney's fees is unlike a motion to alter or amend a judgment. It does not imply a change in the judgment, but merely seeks what is due because of the judgment. It is, therefore, not governed by the provisions of Rule 59(e)." Knighton v. Watkins, 616 F.2d 795, 797 (5th Cir. 1980). See also Campbell v. Bowlin, 724 F.2d 484, 488 (5th Cir. 1984) ("defendants' post-judgment motion for an award of attorneys' fees was improperly characterized as a Fed.R.Civ.P. 59(e) motion . . .").

As noted above, attorneys fee awards are derivative of the judgments that permit them. Because they are not appropriate matters for jury consideration, and because they require the Court's initial consideration after trial, such motions do not ask the Court to "reconsider" anything. By contrast, Rule 59(e) "embraces motions urging 'reconsideration of matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits." *Bruce*, 587 So. 2d at 903. Because motions for attorneys fees are judgment derivative and not Rule 59(e) motions, Mississippi trial courts routinely consider such motions, and award such fees, after the initial judgment is entered and without the necessity of showing any of the three circumstances typically required of Rule 59(e) motions. *See*, e.g. Romney v. Barbetta, 881 So. 2d 958, 963 (Miss. Ct.. App. 2004); Gordon v. Gordon, 929 So. 2d 981 (Miss.

Ct. App. 2006); Shipley v. Ferguson, 638 So. 2d 1295, 1299 (Miss. 1994); Prescott v. Prescott, 736 So. 2d 409, 412 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (awarding post-judgment motion to amend to award attorneys fees). As a matter of Mississippi law, the Circuit Court's designation of the Plaintiff's motion for attorneys fees as a "Rule 59(e) motion" was error, and the requirements under that rule were inapplicable to the motion before the lower court. Accordingly, the Circuit Court's August 20, 2009 Order should be reversed, and this matter should be remanded for consideration of the merits of

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant requests that this Court reverse the Circuit Court's August 20, 2009 order and remand this case with instructions to consider the merits of the Appellant's motion to award attorneys fees and expenses, costs and interest.