IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01529

ROBERT MICHAEL FULTON

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

V.

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF YAZOO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MICHAEL W. BAXTER (MSP WALKER R. GIBSON (MSB Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A. Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: (601) 856-7200

Attorneys For Defendant/Appellee, Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01529

ROBERT MICHAEL FULTON

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Fulton is asking for attorney's fees in a case where the claim was never denied, where the jury returned a verdict that held that Farm Bureau did <u>not</u> breach the contract by failing to pay what it owed (Verdict No. 2, RE 1:8), and where no punitive damages were awarded. (Verdict No. 4, RE 1:9) Based on the jury's verdicts, and based upon the American Rule concerning awards of attorneys' fees, no attorneys' fees could be awarded on the merits of this case. Moreover, there is no contract and no statute that allows for such an award in this case in the first instance. Nevertheless, one does not even have to reach the merits of this question due to the fact that Fulton's motion for attorneys' fees, expenses, costs and prejudgment interests fails because of a procedural bar.

Specifically, Fulton waited until *after* the entry of the Final Judgment in this case to seek attorneys' fees, expenses, costs and prejudgment interest. Because Fulton sought to "amend" the Final Judgment, his motion was clearly governed by Rule 59(e), M.R.C.P. However, Fulton failed to meet the requirements of Rule 59(e) because he was unable to show an intervening change in controlling law, the availability of new evidence not previously available or a need to correct a clear error of law or to prevent manifest injustice. *See Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So.2d 229 (Miss. 2004). Fulton has no one to blame but himself for waiting until <u>after</u> the entry of the Final Judgment to seek attorneys' fees and expenses. By waiting, Fulton forced the trial court to apply Rule 59(e) to his motion. Due to Fulton's failure to meet the requirements of Rule 59(e), the trial court committed no error by denying Fulton's motion. Therefore, this Court can and should dispose of this appeal based on Fulton's procedural deficiency under Rule 59(e) by affirming the trial court's ruling.

Looking past the failure of Fulton to comply procedurally with Rule 59(e), there are substantive grounds why his request for attorneys' fees, expenses, costs and prejudgment interest still

fails under Mississippi law. Mississippi follows the American Rule that states, in the absence of a contract or statute providing otherwise, a plaintiff's attorneys' fees and expenses are not recoverable in an action unless punitive damages are proper. See In re Guardianship of Duckett, 991 So.2d 1165, 1179 (Miss. 2008). See also, Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Gray Corp., Inc., 972 So. 2d 495, ¶68 (Miss. 2007). Because the jury rejected Fulton's request for punitive damages, and no contractual or statutory provision requires the award of attorneys' fees in an uninsured motorists insurance dispute, the trial court committed no error by denying Fulton's request.

In his brief, Fulton asks this Court to disregard and ignore established Mississippi precedent, including this Court's recent **June 10, 2010** ruling in *Miller, et al. v. McCurley Prop. LLC, et al.*, _____ So.3d ____, 2010 WL 2305757 (Miss. - June 10, 2010)(no award for attorneys' fee absent a contractual or statutory provision, or an award for punitive damages) and award him attorneys' fees and expenses. Fulton makes this request even though Mississippi appellate courts have *never* affirmed an award of attorneys' fees and expenses in an insurance breach of contract case in the absence of an award of punitive damages. Fulton tries to overcome this hurdle by citing to cases that allowed the recovery of attorneys' fees absent bad faith. However, Fulton conveniently omits that those cases granted attorneys' fees based solely on a <u>statutory provision</u> that allowed the award of attorneys' fees - which is clearly absent in the case at bar. For these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court and find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Fulton's motion.

As to Fulton's request for costs and prejudgment interest, the trial court correctly rejected Fulton's motion. Prejudgment interest is not recoverable unless (a) the amount in dispute in the case was liquidated, or (b) the defendant acted frivolously or in bad faith. *Moeller v. American Guar. and Liab. Ins. Co.*, 812 So. 2d 953, ¶11 (Miss. 2002); *Warwick v. Matheney*, 603 So. 2d 330, 342 (Miss. 1992). Neither of these situations exist in the case at bar. The damages for Fulton's bodily injury

claim were <u>disputed</u> and <u>unliquidated</u> and were not fixed until the jury rendered its verdict and fixed them. Moreover, the jury found that punitive damages were <u>not</u> proper and returned a defense verdict in Farm Bureau's favor on this part of Fulton's claim. Therefore, the trial court did not commit error by refusing to amend the Final Judgment to allow Fulton to recover prejudgment interest and the trial court's denial of prejudgment interest should be affirmed on appeal.

In the final analysis, Fulton's motion for an award of attorneys' fees, expenses, costs and prejudgment interest is procedurally defective in that it was filed after the entry of the Final Judgment and does not comply with M.R.C.P. 59(e). Fulton's motion is also contrary to well-established Mississippi law which follows the American Rule regarding awards for attorneys' fees and was correctly denied by the trial court. For the reasons set forth herein, this Court should affirm the decision of the trial court that denied Fulton's Motion to Amend Judgment and to Award Attorneys Fees and Expenses, Costs and Interest.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court should treat a motion to amend a final judgment and/or for reconsideration as a post-trial motion under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e). See Cooper, et al. v. Glider, et al., __ So.3d __, 2009 WL 1058634, ¶ 35 (Miss. App. 2009), citing Brooks v. Roberts, 882 So.2d 229, 233 (¶15)(Miss. 2004). In reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion to amend and/or for reconsideration, "this Court will review the denial of such a motion under an abuse of discretion standard." Brooks, 882 So.2d at 233. See also, Bellemere v. Geico Gen. Ins. Co., 977 So.2d 363, 368 (Miss. App. 2007)(standard of review regarding a motion to amend judgment is an abuse of discretion).

ARGUMENT

I. FULTON CHOSE TO FILE A RULE 59 MOTION AND SHOULD NOT BE HEARD TO COMPLAIN FOR FAILING TO MEET ITS REQUIREMENTS.

Fulton argues that the trial court erred by failing to grant his Motion to Amend Judgment and to Award Attorneys Fees and Expenses, Costs and Interest. He argues that the trial court should not have applied Rule 59(e) of the M.R.C.P. to his motion, which requires the movant seeking to alter or amend a final judgment to show: (1) an intervening change in controlling law; (2) availability of new evidence not previously available; or (3) a need to correct a clear error of law or to prevent manifest injustice. *See Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So.2d 229 (Miss. 2004).

However, it cannot be overlooked that Fulton chose to seek attorneys' fees and costs in the form of a motion to "amend" the Final Judgment entered by this Court on April 20, 2009. By waiting until after the entry of the Final Judgment, Fulton procedurally tied the trial court's hands and required his motion to be reviewed under the dictates of Rule 59(e). Because Fulton chose that avenue of recovery, which is clearly governed by M.R.C.P. 59(e), he cannot ignore its requirements. The trial court correctly held in its August 24, 2009 Order that Fulton failed to show an intervening change in controlling law, the availability of new evidence or a need to correct a clear legal error. (RE 3:145) The trial court did not abuse its discretion by ruling that Fulton failed to meet his burden of proving any of the elements under Rule 59(e). Because Fulton sought to amend the Final Judgment under Rule 59(e), he should not be heard to complain. The trial court's denial of Fulton's request should therefore be affirmed.

II. THE CASES RELIED ON BY FULTON DERIVE THEIR ENTITLEMENT TO ATTORNEYS' FEES DIRECTLY FROM A STATUTE AND THUS HAVE NO APPLICATION IN THE CASE AT BAR.

In his brief, Fulton cites to several cases for the proposition that a request for attorneys' fees

their entitlement to attorneys' fees <u>directly from a statute</u>. Put another way, Fulton's cases found an <u>independent statutory right to attorneys' fees</u> separate and apart from the underlying case that could be requested at any point. Because attorneys' fees are not mandated by Mississippi law in the context of an uninsured motorists insurance case, the cases relied upon by Fulton have no application here.

Specifically, Fulton relies on White v. New Hampshire Dept. of Employment Sec., et al., 455 U.S. 445 (1982). Although the United States Supreme Court in White found that attorneys' fees were not part of a motion to amend or alter a final judgment, the White court made it very clear that its decision was based on an independent statutory right to attorneys' fees under the Civil Rights Act of 1976 (42 U.S.C. § 1988). The court in White specifically held that "a request for attorney's fees under § 1988 raises legal issues collateral to the main cause of action - issues to which Rule 59(e) was never intended to apply." Id. at 451. The White court further explained that § 1988 provides for attorney's fees only to a prevailing party "regardless of when attorney's fees are requested." Id.

Fulton also relies on *Knighton v. Watkins*, 616 F.2d 795 (5th Cir. 1980). Like the holding in *White*, the 5th Circuit's holding in *Knighton* allowing attorneys' fees outside of Rule 59 was based on the Civil Rights Act of 1976 which created an independent statutory basis for attorneys' fees that did not have to be requested before the entry of a final judgment. *Id.* at 796.

Fulton also relies on several Mississippi appellate court cases where attorneys' fees were awarded based on a <u>statutory right</u> of recovery. The cases cited by Fulton obviously have no bearing on the present case involving a claim for uninsured motorists benefits because there exists no statute requiring an award for attorneys' fees in this context. For example, Fulton cites on - *Cruse v. Nunley*, 699 So.2d 941 (Miss. 1997)(attorneys' fees allowed under Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1988);

Romney v. Barbetta, 881 So.2d 958 (Miss. App. 2004)(attorneys' fees allowed under M.C.A. § 11-55-5); and Gordon v. Gordon, 929 So.2d 981 (Miss. App. 2006)(attorneys' fees allowed under M.C.A. § 89-1-33). These courts made it very clear that when an independent statutory right to attorneys' fees exists, a motion for attorneys' fees can be filed at any point after the entry of a final judgment and outside of Rule 59. Neither the uninsured motorists statutory scheme, nor any other Mississippi statute authorizes an award of attorneys' fees in the case at bar, especially where the claim was never denied, the jury found no breach of the insurance contract and awarded no punitive damages.

By relying on cases that awarded attorneys' fees based on an <u>independent statutory right</u>, Fulton is comparing apples to oranges. The hurdle that Fulton simply cannot overcome is that there is <u>no</u> statutory right to attorneys' fees under Mississippi law in the context of an insurance case. Fulton's reliance on cases that provide a statutory basis for attorneys' fees must be disregarded as being entirely irrelevant because they have no bearing on Mississippi insurance cases. As established, *supra*, Mississippi appellate courts have *never* affirmed an award of attorneys' fees and expenses in an insurance breach of contract case in the absence of a finding of a breach of contract and an award of punitive damages. Neither circumstance exists in the case at bar as the jury ruled Farm Bureau did not breach the insurance contract (Verdict No. 2)(RE 1:8), and refused to award Fulton any punitive damages. (Verdict No. 4)(RE 1:9) Likewise, there is <u>no</u> statutory authority mandating an award of attorneys' fees in the insurance or insurance bad faith context. Thus, for Fulton to argue on page 4 of his brief that attorneys' fees are always a "collateral" recovery outside of Rule 59 in the Mississispi insurance context is simply not accurate and should be rejected.

While Farm Bureau is not aware of any Mississippi appellate court decisions that discuss

attorneys' fees under Rule 59 as they relate to bad faith, there are Mississippi federal court cases that provide guidance. In *Stacy v. Williams*, 50 F.R.D. 52 (N.D. Miss. 1970), the court disallowed attorneys' fees under Rule 59 where they were not included in the final judgment. The court even tried to find an independent statutory basis to award attorneys' fees that would take the award outside of the requirements of Rule 59, but none existed. *Id.* at 55. Even more damaging to Fulton's argument is the holding in *Snyder v. Leake*, 87 F.R.D. 362 (N.D. Miss. 1980). In *Snyder*, the court rejected a request for attorneys' fees under Rule 59, by stating:

Initially, the court should point out that this action is <u>different</u> from those actions where the prevailing party seeks an award of fees pursuant to statutory authority. ... <u>This is so because attorney's fees based on bad faith, which are awarded through the court's equitable powers, are not "part of the costs awarded after litigation, but should be sought as part of the litigation itself."</u>

Id. at 363-4 (emphasis added).

This Court should follow the holdings in *Stacy* and *Snyder*, which unquestionably held that absent a statutory right of recovery, requests for attorneys' fees must be requested as part of the litigation itself and included in a final judgment. If, like here, a plaintiff fails to show an independent statutory right to attorneys' fees and fails to seek attorneys' fees before the entry of a final judgment, his claim for attorneys' fees is waived. Based on the above authority, Fulton waived his request for attorneys' fees, costs, expenses and pre-judgment interest by waiting to request them until after the trial court's April 20, 2009 entry of the Final Judgment.

III. MISSISSIPPI FOLLOWS THE AMERICAN RULE AND DOES NOT ALLOW ATTORNEY FEES ABSENT A PUNITIVE DAMAGES AWARD, A CONTRACTUAL PROVISION OR STATUTORY AUTHORITY.

Although Fulton chose to file his attorneys' fees request as a motion to amend a judgment, which is governed by Rule 59(e), he argues that motions seeking attorneys' fees fall outside of Rule 59(e). Fulton's argument is an incorrect statement of Mississippi law. As this Court is aware,

Mississippi appellate courts have followed the American Rule that, absent a contractual provision or statutory basis, a plaintiff's attorneys' fees and expenses are not recoverable in an action <u>unless</u> <u>punitive damages are proper</u>. See In re Guardianship of Duckett, 991 So.2d 1165, 1179 (Miss. 2008). In In re Guardianship of Duckett, the Mississippi Supreme Court held:

The law in Mississippi with respect to awarding of attorney's fees is well settled: '[I]f attorney's fees are not authorized by the contract or by statute, they are not to be awarded when an award of punitive damages is not proper.' Hamilton v. Hopkins, 834 So. 2d 695, 700 [¶16] (Miss. 2003) (collecting authorities).

Duckett, 991 So.2d at 1179. The Duckett Court rejected the plaintiff's request for attorneys' fees because punitive damages were improper. See also, Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Gray Corp., Inc., 972 So. 2d 495, 517 (Miss. 2007)(attorneys' fees award not proper absent punitive damages award, contractual provision or statutory authority).⁴

The American Rule was reaffirmed by this Court as recent as June 10, 2010 in Miller, et al. v. McCurley Prop. LLC, et al., __So.3d __, 2010 WL 2305757 (Miss. June 10, 2010). In Miller, the plaintiff filed a breach of contract lawsuit over a seller-financing agreement to purchase a residential property that was later destroyed by Hurricane Katrina. Id. at ¶ 1. During the chancery court trial, the plaintiff/purchaser (Miller) sought attorneys' fees, among other things. Id. at ¶ 6. However, the chancery court denied the plaintiff's request for attorneys' fees. Id. at ¶ 20. On appeal, this Court affirmed the chancery court's ruling by finding that an award for attorneys'

⁴ See also, Sentinel Indus. Contracting Corp. v. Kimmins Indus. Serv. Corp., 743 So.2d 954, 971 (Miss.1999); Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n, 740 So.2d 925, 937 (Miss.1999); Century 21 Deep S. Props., Ltd. v. Corson, 612 So.2d 359, 375 (Miss.1992); Smith v. Dorsey, 599 So.2d 529, 550 (Miss.1992); Grisham v. Hinton, 490 So.2d 1201, 1205 (Miss.1986); Stanton & Assocs., Inc. v. Bryant Constr. Co., 464 So.2d 499, 502 (Miss.1985); Bellefonte Ins. Co. v. Griffin, 358 So.2d 387, 391 (Miss.1978) (alleged breach of insurance contract).

fees is <u>not</u> proper absent a punitive damages award, a contractual provision or statutory authority providing for attorneys' fees. This Court in *Miller* specifically held:

The judge correctly found no provision for attorney's fees in the event of breach of contract in the Agreement between the parties, and no statutory basis for awarding attorney's fees for a breach of contract. Mississippi law is well-settled with respect to awarding attorney's fees. "If attorney's fees are not authorized by the contract or by statute, they are not to be awarded when an award of punitive damages is not proper." In re Guardianship of Duckett, 991 So.2d 1165, 1179 (Miss. 2008)(quoting Hamilton v. Hopkins, 834 So. 695, 700 (Miss. 2003)).

Miller, 2010 WL 2305757 at ¶ 20 (emphasis added).

Based on this line of clear Mississippi caselaw, it cannot be argued by Fulton with a straight face that attorneys' fees are recoverable where there is no punitive damages award, or a statutory provision or by contractual agreement. Because the jury in the case at bar rejected Fulton's punitive damages demand, and there existed no contractual or statutory right for attorneys' fees against Farm Bureau in the case at bar, Fulton cannot recover attorneys' fees or expenses. This Court should, therefore, affirm the trial court's denial of Fulton's Motion to Amend Judgment and to Award Attorneys Fees and Expenses, Costs and Interest.

IV. VEASLEY DOES NOT SUPPORT FULTON'S CLAIMS FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES AND EXPENSES.

Fulton argues that attorneys' fees are proper under *Universal Life Inc. Co. v. Veasley*, 610 So.2d 290 (Miss. 1992). In *Veasley*, the Court considered a suit for breach of a life insurance contract, in which the insurer admittedly made a mistake in initially denying benefits to the insured. When Universal Life realized its mistake, it admitted the wrongful denial and tendered policy benefits to the insured. Nevertheless, the insured sued, alleging bad faith. *Veasley*, 610 So. 2d at 291-92. The *Veasley* Court recognized that Universal Life had *no arguable reason* for having

initially <u>denied</u> Veasley's claim and had no explanation for the <u>denial</u> other than a *mistake* resulting from a failure of competence. *Id.* at 294. Nevertheless, the award of punitive damages was <u>reversed</u> and <u>rendered</u> on appeal because there was no evidence that Universal Life acted maliciously. *Id.*

In regard to extracontractual damages, the *Veasley* Court affirmed an award of emotional distress damages in Veasley's favor because the initial claim denial was a mistake made without any arguable reason and was therefore negligent. *Id.* at 295-96. However, there was no award whatsoever of attorneys' fees and expenses to Veasley. *Id.* Consequently, language in *Veasley* suggesting that attorneys' fees and expenses might be recoverable when punitive damages were not appropriate was mere dicta. That dicta was actually contrary to long-established Mississippi law regarding awards of attorneys' fees and expenses, i.e., the American Rule now recently affirmed in *Duckett* and *Miller* – that attorneys' fees and expenses are not recoverable when punitive damages are not awarded. *Duckett*, 991 So.2d 1165, 1179 (Miss. 2008), *Miller*, ___ So.3d ___, 2010 WL 2305757 ¶ 20 (Miss. - June 10, 2010). Therefore, for Fulton to argue *Veasley* allows for attorneys' fees in all insurance contract cases where punitive damages are rejected is a gross misstatement of the law in Mississippi.

Moreover, shortly after the *Veasley* opinion was rendered in 1992, this Court confirmed that *Veasley's* language regarding attorneys' fee and expense awards was no more than *dicta*. In *Miller v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 631 So.2d 789, 792 (Miss. 1994), rendered less than two years after *Veasley*, the Court followed established precedent set forth in the American Rule. The *Miller* Court held that, as the case was not one for punitive damages, there was no merit to an insured's argument of entitlement to attorneys' fees and costs. *Miller*, 631 So.2d at 792. The *Miller* Court appended and quoted with approval the trial court's opinion, which stated:

Plaintiff's prayer for attorneys fees is denied. In the absence of a showing of gross or willful wrong entitling the Movant to an award of punitive damages, the Mississippi Supreme Court has never approved of awarding attorneys fees to the successful litigant. See e.g., Central Bank of Mississippi v. Butler, 517 So.2d 507, 512 (Miss. 1988); Aetna Casualty & Surety Company v. Steele, 373 So.2d 797, 801 (Miss. 1979).

Miller, 631 So.2d at 795.

The holding in *Miller*, 631 So.2d at 795, is still good law to this day, as reaffirmed by *Miller*, et al. v. McCurley Prop. LLC, et al., __ So.3d __, 2010 WL 2305757, ¶ 20 (Miss. - June 10, 2010)(no award for attorneys' fee absent a contractual or statutory provision, or an award for punitive damages). To Farm Bureau's knowledge, no Mississippi appellate court has ever approved an award of attorneys' fees and expenses based on Veasley where punitive damages were not also awarded. The bottom line is that the jury in the case at bar rejected Fulton's claim of bad faith, thereby rejecting Fulton's claim for punitive damages. (RE 1:9) For this reason, Fulton is not entitled to recover attorneys' fees and expenses.

Fulton argued before the trial court and Farm Bureau anticipates he will argue before this Court that the *dicta* in *Veasley* suggesting that attorneys' fees and expenses might be recoverable when punitive damages were not appropriate has been adopted in Mississippi. In support, Fulton relied on *Sports Page*, *Inc. v. Punzo*, 900 So.2d 1193, 1205 (Miss. App. 2004) and *Garner v. Hickman*, 733 So.2d 191, 198 (Miss. 1999). However, Fulton conveniently selected self-serving quotes from these cases while ignoring their holdings.

In *Punzo*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals **reversed and rendered** the trial court's grant of attorneys' fees to a contractor who sued a restaurant owner over a renovation project. *Id.* at 1205. The *Punzo* Court stated that the "general rule" in Mississippi is that attorneys' fees are not

recoverable absent punitive damages, contractual agreement or a statutory provision. *Id.* at 1203-4. In its ruling, the *Punzo* Court held that attorneys' fees were improper because no contract or statute allowed for them and no bad faith was committed by the plaintiff. *Id.* The *Punzo* Court reaffirmed that the language in *Veasley* was mere *dicta* by holding: "While there may be some uncertainty about what conduct exactly gives rise to an award of 'Veasley damages,' we can safely say that the general rule on attorney's fees remains intact." *Id.* at 1204.

As discussed in more detail later in Farm Bureau's brief, Fulton also relies in error on *Garner v. Hickman*, 733 So.2d 191, 198 (Miss. 1999), for the position that attorneys' fees may be warranted absent punitive damages. However, Fulton again fails to point out that the award for attorneys' fees was **reversed and rendered** in *Garner* because the action did not violate Miss. Code Ann. § 11-55-5, which is the Litigation Accountability Act of 1988. *Id.* at 198. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-55-5 only allows for attorneys' fees where a lawsuit was filed to harass the defendant or is found to be without merit. As this Court is aware, no statutory requirement for attorneys' fees exists for insurance cases in Mississippi. There certainly is no basis in the uninsured motorists statutes for such an award. Therefore, Fulton's reliance on *Garner* is misplaced and has no application to the case before this Court.

Although not cited in his Brief of Appellant, Fulton relied upon and cited *United American*Ins. Co. v. Merrill, 978 So. 2d 613 (Miss. 2007), to the trial court and Farm Bureau anticipates

Fulton will cite it in his reply. However, Fulton should take little comfort in Merrill because the

Court there affirmed an award of attorneys' fees and expenses only because punitive damages were

also awarded. In its holding concerning attorneys' fees, the Merrill court expressly stated:

Additionally, '[w]here punitive damages are awarded by the jury, attorney's fees are justified.'

Id. at 636.

The *Merrill* court's only citation to and quote of *Veasley* was in the section of its opinion affirming an award of emotional distress damages. *Merrill*, 978 So.2d at 630. The *Merrill* decision did not rely, at any point, on *Veasley* in awarding attorneys' fees and expenses. Rather, in the section of its opinion concerning attorneys' fees and expenses, the *Merrill* court relied on *Mississippi Power* & *Light v. Cook*, which holds as follows:

Absent some statutory authority or contractual provision, attorneys' fees cannot be awarded unless punitive damages are also proper.

Mississippi Power & Light Co. v. Cook, 832 So.2d 474, 486 (Miss. 2002), citing Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. v. Steele, 373 So.2d 797, 801 (Miss. 1979).

Turning back to *Veasley*, it cannot be overlooked that the carrier *denied* a claim without an arguable reason. *Veasley*, 610 So.2d at 295. Farm Bureau never denied Fulton's claim and the jury concluded that Farm Bureau did not breach the insurance contract. (Verdict No. 2)(RE 1:8) Accordingly, Fulton's reliance on *Veasley* is faulty. Because the jury found that Farm Bureau did not deny Fulton's claim, or breach the insurance contract, because Farm Bureau did not commit bad faith, and because no punitive damages were awarded [Verdict No. 4 (RE 1:9)], Fulton is <u>not</u> entitled to any attorneys' fees or expenses under *Veasley*. Thus the trial court should be affirmed and Fulton's appeal dismissed with prejudice.

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